STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Jasper County
Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROHAIME JAMAR HOPKINS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001224

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by admitting the cell phone and text message evidence (State's exhibits 7-9), since the probative value of that evidence was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE, the exhibits were not statements against penal interest as the court ruled, and they were confusing to the jury, including the text message, which even if sent by appellant was ambiguous, and where the court ruled the Verizon Wireless records custodian did not have the expertise necessary to impart the cell tower evidence to the jury?

2.

Whether the court erred by not exercising its discretion to exclude Michael Taylor's testimony which claimed that appellant burned his clothes in a barrel outside Taylor's home on the night of the murder, since Taylor made this claim for the first time on the day of the trial, the defense had no notice of this newly claimed devastating evidence prior to that time -- which violated fundamental fairness since it was "trial by ambush" -- and the court had the inherent authority, and duty, to ensure appellant received a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for murder by the Jasper County Grand Jury. R. 529 – 530. His case was called to trial on May 15, 2017, before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner, and a jury. R.

1. Scott Lee represented appellant. Mary Jones and Brian Hollen were the assistant solicitors.

R. 2.

On May 17, 2017, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 521. Judge Buckner sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 522. This appeal follows.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Wood, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2004). Appellate courts are bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 454, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000); State v. Williams, 326 S.C. 130, 135, 485 S.E.2d 99, 102 (1997); State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219, 224, 625 S.E.2d 239, 241 (Ct. App. 2006); State v. Landis, 362 S.C. 97, 101, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004).

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 228, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999). Evidentiary rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. Mansfield, 343 S.C. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 263.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by admitting the cell phone and text message evidence (State's exhibits 7-9), since the probative value of that evidence was substantially outweighed by its unduly prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE, the exhibits were not statements against penal interest as the court ruled, and they were confusing to the jury, including the text message, which even if sent by appellant was ambiguous, and where the court ruled the Verizon Wireless records custodian did not have the expertise necessary to impart the cell tower evidence to the jury.

Introduction

This is a strange circumstantial case which teetered out of control as the state attempted to prove that appellant Rohaime Hopkins was the shooter, and where the jury also heard elaborate evidence that admitted "scammer" Antoine Drake was likely the murderer allegedly paid by Trey Graves to kill the decedent. Further, the state's case was largely made through the impeachment of its own witnesses, and through the testimony of suspect Drake, and an admitted murderer, Jailhouse Snitch Byron Singleton, who acknowledged he wanted sentencing consideration for claiming appellant confessed to him in the local jail.

Relevant Facts

Antoine Drake said Trey Graves was the man who put out "a hit on Terrence Johnson, [the decedent.]" R. 139, ll. 8-10. Drake acknowledged that he saw Graves at the Club Pluto, a strip club, a week after the decedent was murdered. Drake admitted he told Graves he wanted "to collect the money" for the hit because the decedent was dead. Drake claimed he was only trying to scam Graves out of the "hit" money, and he denied that he committed the murder. R. 138, l. 22 – 141, l. 7.

Drake later explained he got arrested at the Club Pluto with a gun, and that he went to jail on December 27, 2014, following the November 12, 2014, murder of the decedent. Drake denied the gun he was arrested with was the “same caliber gun that was used to shoot Terrance Johnson.” R. 149, l. 4 – 150, l. 17.

Drake admitted he said, referring to appellant, “I can’t stand that motherfucker,” and that he would kill appellant. R. 169, ll. 4-20. Drake also make the self-serving claim that at the Club Pluto when Graves refused to pay Drake the fifteen thousand dollars for killing the decedent, that Graves said, “Hopkins told me he did it alone.” Drake said Graves only bought him a drink that evening, and did not pay him any money. R. 172, l. 4 – 173, l. 13.

Drake denied that he fled to Philadelphia after the murder, and after talking to Graves. R. 173, l. 18 – 174, l. 16. However, Drake’s girlfriend, Tutu, who was pregnant with another of Drake’s children, as will be seen infra, admitted she went to Philadelphia after the murder. She claimed it was just an annual visit -- apparently every November -- and had nothing to do with the murder.

The state’s theory of the case was that the decedent was killed between nine and ten o’clock on November 12, 2014. Justin Kesselring lived at 349 Knowles Island Road. Justin remembered that “we hear shots around there all the time. People clinging around with guns.” However, on this rural island, Justin remembered on November 12, 2014, that “a little after nine” he heard multiple gunshots. He looked out his window but he did not see anything. R. 27, ll. 1-23.

The next morning as he was leaving for work, “there was a car across the street and there was a body laying next to it.” Justin called 911. R. 27, l. 19 – 28, l. 6.

Shardaja Singleton lived at 44 Knowles Island Road. Singleton remembered on the morning of November 13, 2014, she missed the school bus, and she saw the decedent's body laying "in the dirt road." The passenger door of the car right next to the decedent's body was open. She remembered the night before at around nine p.m. she heard six gunshots. R. 31, l. 1 – 34, l. 2. The murder weapon was never recovered.

Robin Simmons lived on "Simmons Hill," and she remembered November 12, 2014, because they had a family gathering "because my grandmother had passed." Robin remembered seeing both the decedent and appellant at the gathering which lasted all day, from morning to night. Robin saw appellant around eight o'clock that evening. R. 79, l. 7 – 82, 11.

Robin Simmons testified that the decedent was dating her sister, Angel Simmons. She referred to appellant as "a family member" whom she had known all her life. She contended appellant had a black pistol tucked into his pants that evening. R. 79, l. 7 – 81, l. 4.

Robin admitted that appellant and the decedent left together "a couple of times," and came back. R. 81, ll. 20-25. Robin said when appellant returned with the decedent he was wearing a "black T shirt and black jogging pants." She did not claim to see appellant with a gun after he changed clothes. Robin acknowledged that appellant and the decedent were very close personal friends. She said they left together from Simmons Hill a second time at about eight o'clock that night. R. 82, l. 4 – 83, l. 25.

Latanya Singleton was called "Tutu" by everyone involved. R. 189, l. 7 – 190, l. 9. Tutu lived at 474 Knowles Island. She said she did not remember November 12, 2014 at all. Tutu was pregnant with Antoine Drake's child. She had another child by Drake. R. 190, ll. 7-20

Tutu remembered that she drove to Walterboro to talk to law enforcement at their request. She said she did not remember what she told them. "I don't want to lie, I really don't

remember because I was high then.” “I’m high almost everyday.” She claimed she was “straight” on the day of appellant’s trial because she was pregnant. R. 192, l. 1 – 193, l. 10.

Tutu remembered that Drake asked her whom she had texted on the day of the murder. There were two murders that happened that same November day. As will be seen infra, Byron Singleton committed the other murder, and, as will be seen infra, he attempted to tell the jury he got a jailhouse confession to the present murder from appellant.

Tutu, Drake’s girlfriend, admitted she had a 9 mm High Point gun, which would have been consistent with the murder weapon that was never found, but she claimed she did not have the gun in November of 2014, when the murder occurred. Tutu admitted she went to Philadelphia that November after the murder, but she claimed she went to Philadelphia in November of every year. R. 198, l. 18 – 201, l. 5.

Angel Simmons also lived on Simmons Hill. She remembered the gathering after her grandmother died. Simmons had a criminal record for various thefts and bad checks. She said she was engaged to be married to the decedent at the time he was killed. She had known the decedent about a year. R. 212, l. 3 – 213, l. 7.

Angel said she was resting on November 12, 2014, because she and the decedent had been up “all night the night before.” R. 215, ll. 3-15. Simmons said in her last conversation with the decedent she said: “‘T.J., where are you?’ And I said, ‘T.J., where you at?’ And I was like, ‘I love you,’ like that. And I kind of hear like a little scuffle and the phone hung up. And I kept calling.” Simmons said all of her calls to the decedent went to voicemail after 9:30 that evening. R. 216, ll. 9-17.

Richard Johnson was the SLED agent involved. He went to Knowles Island Road in Jasper County on November 13, 2014. R. 223, ll. 11-24. Johnson remembered that both Tutu,

Drake's girlfriend, and appellant lived within five hundred yards of where the decedent's body was found. R. 227, l. 3 – 229, l. 3.

Johnson said he later learned that Drake, appellant, "and others that he didn't identify were at Michael Taylor's house. He was also referred to as Mike-Mike." "When Hopkins stated to them that he was waiting on 'them boys,' Daytron Simmons said he was referring to Trey Graves to sign a contract." The allegation was apparently that there was going to be a written contract entered into to kill the decedent because he was "snitching." Johnson offered that Trey Graves was in federal prison. Johnson testified that he learned that both appellant and the decedent both liked cocaine, and they were using it on the night the decedent was killed. R. 229, l. 14 – 231, l. 8. When the solicitor asked Johnson about phone numbers he received during his investigation, the defense hearsay objection was sustained. R. 231, ll. 9-13.

Johnson admitted he executed an affidavit for Tutu's phone records because "Tutu has provided information to others that only a participant would know or witness." R. 247, ll. 3-25. Johnson admitted that Tutu abruptly left town and she went to Philadelphia. Johnson was not able to talk to her in person until February 1, 2015. R. 248, ll. 1-20.

Johnson said he knew Drake was "on the run" from other charges. However, Johnson did not arrest him because he said he wanted information from Drake. R. 249, l. 2 – 252, l. 10.

Johnson said after interviewing Drake, he continued investigating Drake and appellant. Johnson testified that Drake confirmed "if Trey Graves had any connection to this as well." R. 252, l. 11 – 253, l. 9. Johnson refused to admit that he was "scratching Drake's back," and Drake was "scratching his back," so they both would get what they wanted. R. 252, l. 18 – 255, l. 20.

Johnson begrudgingly admitted on cross-examination he was aware of a “knife incident” between Drake and the decedent at Mike Taylor’s house. R. 268, l. 18 – 270, l. 6. Johnson admitted that Drake told him he hated appellant and wanted him gone. R. 270, l. 17 – 271, l. 19.

Johnson said from the information he received there was jealousy between appellant and the decedent because “both of them were seeing Angel Simmons.” R. 276, l. 24 – 277, l. 5.

Burned clothes surprise allegation

Michael Taylor was living in Jacksonville, Florida at the time of the trial. He had a criminal record for theft. R. 283, l. 4 – 284, l. 7.

On the night of the alleged murder, November 12, 2014, Taylor remembered getting off work from the Waffle House at nine p.m.. He came home to change clothes to go to the sister of his wife’s house, but he did not see his wife or son once he got home. However, Taylor said appellant was inside his house sitting in his chair. Taylor maintained he did not know why appellant came to his house that night. R. 284, l. 13 – 286, l. 12.

Taylor said appellant was wearing all black. Taylor woke up his son and his wife. He claimed he asked his wife why appellant was sitting in their living room, and sitting in his chair. Taylor maintained his wife said she had been asleep, and she did not even know appellant was in their house. R. 286, l. 9 – 288, l. 22.

Taylor now testified that appellant asked him if he cared if he changed his clothes. Taylor maintained he told appellant “go ahead, change them.” He offered that he did not know if appellant had gotten dirty walking to his house. Taylor claimed appellant changed his clothes, *and burned the clothes he had been wearing “in my barrel.”* Defense counsel Lee immediately objected to the lack of notice of this claim and testimony. The judge said he would put his ruling on the objection on the record “at a later point in time.” R. 289, l. 13 – 290, l. 5.

The following then occurred between the solicitor and Taylor:

Q: Mr. Taylor, you spoke to the police a while ago back in 2014, didn't you?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. **Why didn't you tell them about the burning clothes then?**

A: I didn't -- you know, to tell the truth, I didn't -- I didn't think about it to be honest with you. And it really -- it really never really crossed my mind that it was him. **I never would have thought that it was Rohaime until -- until after I made the statement and then I started contemplating things.** Because, I'll be honest, I wasn't really myself. You know, I had a little something to drink or whatever. But I know that -- that everything that I'm saying is true. He wasn't with me. He wasn't with me during the day, none of that. He wasn't at home when I came home from work. I go next door an hour and half later, you are in my house. **No, I didn't like that. He never was in my house before like that. He never really was my friend.** I only met you through T.J.

R. 290, l. 9 – 291, l. 2. (emphasis added).

Taylor said he was aware of an incident of violence between Drake and the decedent, but Taylor claimed after it was over Drake and the decedent shook hands and were friends again. Taylor said he did was not injured that knife incident. R. 291, l. 13 – 292, 15.

Byron Singleton appeared for trial in prison garb. Singleton admitted he was incarcerated for another murder that also occurred on November 12, 2014. He had not gone to trial or pled guilty to that murder yet, and he openly admitted he wanted leniency in exchange for his testimony.¹ R. 321, l. 1 – 322, l. 18.

¹ Singleton got the sentencing consideration he was seeking. This Court can take judicial notice of the fact that Singleton was sentenced to 30 years imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter. The Department of Correction Inmate Search Detail Report has Singleton being released on December 13, 2031, after 16 years of incarceration.

Singleton claimed that he became friends with appellant in the Charleston County jail because they were both from Jasper County. R. 321, l. 13 – 323, l. 22.

Singleton admitted he contacted SLED agent Richard Johnson, and he told Johnson that appellant allegedly admitted to him that he shot and killed the decedent. R. 324, l. 4 – 328, l. 3. Singleton also maintained appellant told him it was a “murder for hire” involving “Trey.” R. 328, ll. 4-21.

Singleton acknowledged that he was on a prison bus ride with Antoine Drake. Singleton agreed that he, in fact, spoke with Drake but he denied he received the details of the decedent’s murder from Drake. Even though Singleton openly admitted he wanted sentencing consideration, which he ultimately received, he denied receiving details of the murder from Drake, and that he agreed to testify against appellant for that sentencing consideration. R. 333, l. 13 – 336, l. 15; r. 337, l. 3 – 340, l. 15.

Singleton claimed all Drake ever told him was to tell appellant: “You got me hot. You got me hot. Police started knocking on my door. That’s how the conversation started between me and Rohaime.” R. 339, ll. 9-19.

As stated, the murder weapon was never found. The DNA of an unidentified male was found in the decedent’s car. Appellant’s palm print was on the car, which was not unusual since it was undisputed that appellant and the decedent were friends, and that appellant had ridden in his car. R. 366, ll. 7-12. Kimberly Mears, the SLED fingerprint expert, said that there were inconclusive findings on the prints of Antoine Drake, and she admitted she never received clear and complete fingerprint and palm prints of Drake’s to compare. R. 367, l. 15 – 368, l. 19.

Verizon Wireless evidence

Karen Milbrodt was the business custodian out of the Tampa, Florida, office. R. 398, l. 18 – 400, l. 14. She provided the cell phone records in this case pursuant to a subpoena. Defense counsel objected to the cell phone records on numerous grounds. The trial judge ruled the cell phone records did not violate the confrontation clause, and they were not hearsay. R. 406, l. 4 – 408, l. 2.

The trial judge also ruled that the cell phone exhibits in this case were admissible as a statement against appellant's penal interest. R. 408, l. 10 – 409, l. 7. Defense counsel noted that the text message, in particular, which stated "Dats done need to holla at u" was "so amorphous and so ambiguous and confusing" that it should be excluded under Rule 403, SCRE. R. 409, l. 8, - 411, l. 20.

The judge replied that "There's no hit in there." Defense counsel Lee correctly noted the state would try and argue that the text message "means the hit is done." The judge said that that was a legal argument, but that was not the evidence itself revealed. The judge overruled all of appellant's objections, including his Rule 403, SCRE objection. R. 411, l. 25 – 413, l. 4.

The question then became whether the witness had the requisite expertise to give cell tower testimony. Milbrodt testified she did not recall ever being asked to be an expert in cell tower evidence. She said that she had talked with engineers about the operation of cell towers.

However, on cross-examination, she admitted she was not familiar with any of the cell towers in Jasper County, she had never driven by or inspected one, she was unaware of the topography of Jasper County, or the height of the towers, or the antennas. R. 424, ll. 2-25. Milbrodt was also not aware of any problems with Jasper County cell towers. R. 425, l. 1 – 427,

1. 3. Milbrodt admitted she was not aware of a computer program called “MapPoint.” R. 427, ll. 8-20.

The judge questioned Milbrodt about her training. Milbrodt said she had no specialized training other than “on the job training.” R. 428, l. 22 – 429, l. 18.

As to her education, Milbrodt said she was a high school graduate, and she was currently going to a community college. She had previously driven trucks for Pepsi Cola and Federal Express. R. 428, l. 5 – 429, l. 18.

The judge ruled that Milbrodt was not qualified to give any opinion testimony that pertained to cell phone towers evidence. R. 430, ll. 2-6.

In the presence of the jury, the judge then allowed the solicitor to question Milbrodt about State’s Exhibit 7, 8, and 9, and admit them over all of the defense’s earlier objections. R. 440, ll. 8-20; R. 523 – 527.

As to State’s Exhibit 9, Milbrodt testified, over objection, that the text message was delivered to the recipient at 9:56 p.m. and eleven seconds. R. 442, ll. 7-24. The November 12, 2014 message stated: “dats done, need to Holla at u.” See State’s Exhibit 9, R. 527. R. 443, ll. 1-5. The document, and other information on it are before this Court, and defense counsel argued that it was confusing, and that its probative value was substantial outweighed by its undue prejudice. See Rule 403, SCRE. See Text message document. R. 527.

Milbrodt testified that a later call at 11:17 p.m. it appeared all phone calls were forwarded to voicemail. R. 443, l. 21 – 446, l. 2. Milbrodt said Verizon did not have any records they could produce that would show whether the call actually “showed up on their phone.” R. 446, ll. 6-12. The following occurred on cross-examination of Milbrodt:

Q: Just in general, if a tower -- if you don't know the answer, don't answer it -- if a tower is overloaded for some reason or not working, won't a cell phone call go to the next available tower?

A: Yes.

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