**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Jasper County
The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ROHAIME JAMAR HOPKINS,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2017-001224

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

NOV 20 2018

SC Court of Appeals

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DUFFIE STONE
Fourteenth Judicial Circuit Solicitor

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

⁶ Previous testimony showed this to be the cell phone of victim. (R. p. 266).

⁷ Previous testimony, including confirmation from Appellant, established this number to be an old telephone number of Appellant. (R. p. 238).

⁸ Previous testimony demonstrated that this was the telephone number of Angel Simmons. (R. p. 215). However, it appears that the Solicitor may have misspoken when confirming Ms. Simmons phone number, as the last two numbers are reversed. (R. p. 215; pp. 437-438).

call at 9:37pm to Tutu's old number, xxx-xxx-9189, which also utilized cell tower 216, sector one alpha. (R. p. 441, lines 3-11; p. 191, lines 15-19; p. 204, lines 5-12).

Lastly, Ms. Milbrodt testified as to State's Exhibit 9, which was a November 12th text message sent at 9:56pm from Appellant's old cell phone number to an unknown recipient. (R. p. 441-442; p. 445, line 10 through p. 446, line 12). The content of the text message stated: "Dats done, need to Holla at u". (R. p. 443, lines 2-11).

ARGUMENT

IV. Appellant's failure to object to the introduction of information from State's Exhibits 7 and 8 renders the issue unpreserved for appellate review, and is otherwise meritless, or at most constitutes harmless error.

In Issue 1, Appellant raised a broad claim concerning the improper introduction of evidence through States Exhibits 7-9, part of which argued that the cell phone tower evidence was improper for lack of necessary expertise of the witness. The cell phone tower evidence complained of was not properly objected to by Defense Counsel, and was contributively elicited by Defense Counsel, such that the issue has not been preserved for appellate review. Moreover, the limited testimony introduced by the State concerning cells phones towers was within the scope of the record custodian's responsibilities, and therefore properly admitted. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed as to the introduction of cell phone tower testimony.

This issue originates from objections raised by Defense Counsel concerning the State's intended introduction of Exhibits 7, 8, and 9, as well as testimony and visual aids concerning "sectional analysis" via witness Dylan Hightower. However, the purposes of those objections by Defense counsel do not coincide with the cell phone tower testimony introduced at trial. Defense counsel's objections to the introduction of State's Exhibits 7-9 *concerned only the admissibility*

of text message data from Appellant's old cell phone. (R. p. 404-413).⁹ The matter was initially discussed by the parties in chambers, and Judge Buckner put the matter on the record and recited that the Defense Counsel's objection argued that admission of the text constituted inadmissible hearsay, would violate the Confrontation Clause, and was otherwise not relevant under a Rule 403 analysis. The Court ultimately held that the text message evidence was admissible.¹⁰ (R. p. 404-412). The trial court learned the following day that there were three separately numbered Exhibits, States Exhibits 7, 8, and 9, which were presented for the purposes of determining admissibility. (R. p. 416, line 20 through p. 417, line 17). The trial court's ruling as to the admissibility of the Exhibits 7-9 was not altered, no further objections to these documents were raised, and the trial court collectively entered them into evidence over objection based on his ruling from previous evening. (R. p. 417, line 13-17).¹¹

⁹ The text message evidence was only present in State's Exhibit 9.

¹⁰ The merits of the Court's admission of this evidence argument is also part of Appellant's Issue 1, but is addressed separately in Section II of this Brief.

¹¹ The trial court's discussion as to admissibility of State's Exhibits 7-9 was limited strictly to the text message information contained in State's Exhibit 9. (R. p. 401; p. 404-413). It is unclear from the trial proceedings, or from Appellant's Brief, what objections were raised as to the admission of the *call log information*, set forth in State's Exhibits 7 and 8. Appellant argued generally in his brief that information in Exhibits 7 and 8 would be confusing to the jury, but then ultimately narrowed his discussion to specifically address text message in State's Exhibit 9. He then concludes that Exhibits 7 and 8 are "almost incomprehensible", and invite speculation without the requisite expert witness analysis, which would again seem to only correlate to the tower and sector information.

The cell tower information has been specifically addressed in Respondent's Issue I, the remaining information in Exhibits 7 and 8 is strictly incoming and outgoing phone call data from select phone numbers at the time of the murder was argued to occur. The trial court confirmed that Ms. Milbrodt could serve as record custodian, and she recited that information from the call log exhibits, and explained that duplicate call entries indicated that the call was forwarded to voicemail. This was well within her province as records custodian and was absolutely relevant, as Exhibit 7 corroborated the timing of Angel Simmons last communications with victim and Exhibit 8 confirmed that Appellant's phone number was active following the time of the murder, that that phone call log indicated that Appellant called Tutu after victim's death. Respondent can find no objection or argument for the exclusion of call log data, which would be necessary for

Following his ruling as to the introduction of the text message, the Court next addressed Defense Counsel's objection concerning the introduction of testimony and visual aids from witness Dylan Hightower. (R. p. 413, lines 9-19). In addressing this matter of law the trial court discussed the introduction of testimony referred to at trial as "sectional analysis". (R. p. 418, lines 4-12). Sectional analysis, which appears to be an equivalent term to refer to "historical cell-site analysis," refers to the use of cell phone tower usage to triangulate the location of a certain cell phone at a certain time.

In the trial stage of *U.S. v. Natal*, the records custodian, *in addition to giving a recitation of the call log information admitted at trial*, was permitted to offer lay opinion testimony as to the manner in which cell phone towers work, and specifically analyzed the facts presented in the case to say whether or not there was possible movement by an alleged suspect to the crime. *United States v. Natal*, 849 F.3d 530, 535 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 276, 199 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2017). He also offered an opinion as to other factors that could dictate which tower is used by a given cell phone. *Id.* at 535. The State in turn used this testimony at closing to conclude that the alleged suspect was not anywhere near the crime, thereby leaving the defendant as the only possible culprit. The decision reached by the Second Circuit ultimately reversed the conviction, as it was concluded that the testimony offered by the records custodian could only be properly offered by an expert in cell phone tower operations. *Id.* at 537.

As a predicate matter, Judge Buckner, citing *U.S. v. Natal*, ruled that the sectional analysis information intended to be offered by the State required an expert in cell phone tower operation. In response, the State attempted to qualify the record custodian, Karen Milbrodt, as an expert in "the use of cell phone towers". (R. p. 429, lines 20-22). After proffering testimony as to

preservation of the issue for appeal. Nevertheless, Respondent has responded to and disproven the merits of such an argument, if such an argument was intended by Appellant.

Ms. Milbrodt's qualifications, education, and experience in the field, Judge Buckner ruled that she was not qualified to serve as an expert for purposes of sectional analysis, and sustained Defense Counsel's objection. The trial court's specific ruling stated: "The issue before me is whether or not this witness in a proffer is qualified in the use of cell phone towers. And while I certainly find that she's qualified as a records custodian, I sustain the objection that she is not qualified in giving opinion testimony on the use of cell phone towers." (R. p. 429, line 20 through p. 430, line 1).

Following this ruling, the Solicitor endeavored to make clarifications as to what could and could not be addressed at trial, and the Solicitor specifically noted to the court that the admitted call log exhibits (States Exhibits 7 and 8) reference the tower and sector numbers that each cell phone used to connect each listed call. The Solicitor asked the court if Ms. Milbrodt could recite that information from the records, and the court acknowledged the issue and instructed the Solicitor to discuss the issue with Defense Counsel. (R. p. 4320, lines 1-9). The Solicitor presumably did so, as further off the record discussions were held, and further questioning of the witness was permitted. At the conclusion of these efforts the Solicitor proactively informed the trial court that given the ruling, *she would not introduce any visual aids and would not be calling Dylan Hightower to testify*. (R. p. 432, line 10 through p. 433, line 21). Defense Counsel did not put any discussion on the record regarding the cell phone tower data in Exhibits 7 and 8.

Following the ruling of these legal matters, Ms. Karen Milbrodt testified. As part of her testimony concerning State's Exhibits 7 and 8, she recited from the documents the tower and sector number that certain communications utilized. (R. p. 438; p. 441). However, at no time did Defense Counsel raise an objection to this testimony or the exhibits being in conflict with the

sustained objection reached by the trial court concerning sectional analysis. Furthermore, no new objections were raised to any portion of State's Exhibits 7-9, and the prior objections cited by the court in admitting the evidence concerned only the text message data. In the record, there is absolutely no objection to Ms. Milbrodt's testimony wherein she recited the tower and sector numbers listed in the records for which she served as custodian.

The law in South Carolina concerning issue preservation is well settled. "To preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court." *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (citing *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996)). "The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error." *Id.* (citing *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001)). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." *Id.* at 59 (citing *State v. Pauling*, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996)).

There is no objection within the record to address any testimony offered by Ms. Milbrodt concerning State's Exhibit's 7 and 8. Respondent argues that in order to preserve the issue for appeal, Defense Counsel was required to object specifically to Ms. Milbrodt's testimony, as it was distinguishable from "sectional analysis" testimony. Nevertheless, for purposes of preservation, Defense Counsel should have *at least* objected to this testimony on the grounds that her testimony was within the confines of the previously sustained objection. This is especially so, given that this specific issue was discussed before it was presented to the jury. (R. p. 432, line 1 through p. 433, line 21). It is clear from the record that Defense Counsel did not find Ms. Milbrodt's testimony objectionable, as he made efforts during cross examination to elicit additional information from Ms. Milbrodt regarding the effect of a malfunctioning or overloaded

cell phone tower which drew a sustained objection from the Solicitor. (R. p. 446, lines 13-25). Defense Counsel then abruptly ended his cross examination.

Defense Counsel had notice of the complained of issue beforehand, and while outside the presence of the jury. However, Defense Counsel did not raise an objection to the introduction of the call log data, or the tower and sector numbers. As this information constitutes the entire content of State's Exhibits 7 and 8, there is nothing within the record to argue that their admission at trial was an issue preserved for appeal.

a. The recitation of cell phone tower data by Ms. Milbrodt was properly admitted.

In the alternative to Respondent's preservation argument, Appellant's argument simply lacks merit. The trial court's admission of the cell phone tower data was proper.

The crux of the *U.S. v. Natal* decision is that a qualified expert is needed *to provide opinion testimony* regarding the operation of cell phone towers in order for a party to discuss sectional analysis. *Id.* at 537. Ms. Milbrodt provided absolutely no opinion testimony as to how these cell phone towers work, or what relationship those listed towers would have concerning the ability to pinpoint the location of a connected cell phone. Her testimony was limited to a recitation of the tower and sector identification numbers listed in the exhibits. The Solicitor likewise did not misrepresent the testimony of Ms. Milbrodt by arguing that the identical cell phone tower and sector data for victim and Appellant's cell phone records definitively placed Appellant at the scene of the crime. (R. p. 475; p. 476, lines 4-12). Ms. Milbrodt's testimony did not rise to a level that would necessitate the use of an expert witness as discussed by the Judge Buckner, in reliance upon *U.S. v. Natal*. Moreover, Appellant should be barred from raising an unpreserved issue of appeal on the basis of Ms. Milbrodt's testimony, given that Defense Counsel's own cross examination of Ms. Milbrodt drew closer to the inadmissible area of

opinion testimony than any testimony elicited by the Solicitor. (R. p. 446, lines 13-24); See *State v. Goodwin*, 250 S.C. 403, 406, 158 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1967) (holding that the admission of an oral confession was proper when the witness's testimony was responsive to the question asked by counsel who later sought to contest its admission on appeal. Such response should have been expected by experienced counsel and defendant is in no position to complain now of the admission of testimony he elicited).

As Ms. Milbrodt was confirmed as the records custodian for Verizon Wireless, the court did not err in permitting Ms. Milbrodt to recite the various call log data set forth in State's Exhibits 7 and 8. Appellant's claim lacks merit and his conviction should be affirmed.

b. If error can be found in admitting Ms. Milbrodt's recitation of cell phone tower data, such would merely constitute harmless error.

In the alternative to the Respondent's previous arguments, if the admission of the tower and sector numbers is found to be in error, the admission would constitute harmless error. In light of the remaining evidence presented, there is substantial evidence of guilt admitted against Appellant in this matter, and the circumstances of the case in particular minimize the importance of the tower and sector data admitted.

The trial record provided considerable evidence of guilt against Appellant, including but not limited to testimony that he was last seen leaving the company of the victim less than two hours before the murder, was seen in possession of a black pistol just hours before the murder occurred, confessed to the crime to his cellmate, and burned his clothes on the night of the murder. Reference to tower and sector similarities was harmless in light of the other evidence of guilt. Moreover, tower and sector information is of minimal influence for the jury given that Appellant, his mother, and Tutu all lived near the scene of the crime, and that Simmons Hill was only a few minutes' drive apart. (R. p. 131, lines 11-16); *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631

S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (noting that when “guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached,” a minor error that does not influence the result of the trial is considered harmless).¹²

The admission of the cell tower data is of little importance given the remaining evidence. It is, at a minimum, harmless error by the court and Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

V. The trial court acted within its discretion when he admitted the text message evidence contained in State’s Exhibit 9.

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